## 國立交通大學

## 電信工程學系

## 碩士論文

以虛擬基地台為輔助的無線位置估測

Wireless Location Estimation with the Assistance of the Virtual Base Stations

研究生:陳建華

指導教授:方凱田

中華民國 95年6月

#### 以虛擬基地台為輔助的無線位置估測

Wireless Location Estimation with the Assistance of Virtual Base Stations

研究生:陳建華

指導教授:方凱田

Student: Chien-Hua Chen

Advisor : Kai-Ten Feng

國立交通大學



Submitted to Department of Communication Engineering College of Electrical and Computer Engineering National Chiao Tung University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Communication Engineering June 2006 Hsinchu, Taiwan, Republic of China

中華民國 95 年 6 月

#### 以虛擬基地台為輔助的無線位置估測

#### 學生:陳建華

#### 指導教授:方凱田

#### 國立交通大學電信工程學系碩士班

#### 摘要

隨著商業應用的潮流,無線位置估測的技術在近年來被廣泛的研究著。很多種形式 的無線訊號都可以作為位置估測之用。在這篇論文之中,由傳播時間轉換過來的量 測距離首先被線性化,以便利用最小平方(Least Square)估計的方法。論文裡考 量兩個實務上的問題,分別是"非直接路徑(NLOS)誤差"與"幾何衰減(GDOP)效 應"。在量測時間資訊時,非直接路徑誤差會引發一個正值而且很大的偏差。另一方 面,基地台的幾何分佈不佳時,幾何衰減效應的值會增加,進而降低定位的準確度。 這篇論文所提出的"虛擬基地台(VBS)輔助演算法"藉由加入一些幾何限制以降低 非直接路徑誤差的影響;也藉由加入一些虛擬基地台來減少幾何衰減效應。所提出 的虛擬基地台輔助演算法在模擬時與一些現有的定位演算法相比較。模擬結果顯示 虛擬基地台輔助演算法的表現較好,特別是在非直接路徑誤差很大與基地台幾何位 置不佳時的錯誤率表現更佳。

## 國立交通大學

## 電信工程學系

## 碩士論文

以虛擬基地台為輔助的無線位置估測

Wireless Location Estimation with the Assistance of the Virtual Base Stations

研究生:陳建華

指導教授:方凱田

中華民國 95年6月

#### 以虛擬基地台為輔助的無線位置估測

Wireless Location Estimation with the Assistance of Virtual Base Stations

研究生:陳建華

指導教授:方凱田

Student: Chien-Hua Chen

Advisor : Kai-Ten Feng

國立交通大學



Submitted to Department of Communication Engineering College of Electrical and Computer Engineering National Chiao Tung University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Communication Engineering June 2006 Hsinchu, Taiwan, Republic of China

中華民國 95 年 6 月

Wireless Location Estimation with the Assistance of Virtual Base Stations

Student : Chien-Hua Chen

Advisor : Kai-Ten Feng

#### Department of Communication Engineering National Chiao Tung University

#### Abstract

The wireless location estimation techniques have been wildly investigated with the trend of commercial applications in recent years. Various types of radio signals can be used to develop the location estimation algorithms. In this thesis, the range measurements transferred from the received time-based information are first linearized to utilize the Least Square (LS) method. The practical issues such as the Non-Line-of-Sight (NLOS) errors and the Geometric-Dilution-of-Precision (GDOP) effect are concerned. The NLOS errors will cause a large positive bias while measuring the time information. On the other hand, the poor geometric layout will raise the GDOP value and reduce the accuracy of a location algorithm. The proposed VBS (Virtual Base Stations) algorithm mitigates the influence of the NLOS errors by adding some geometric constraints and reduces the GDOP effect by joining the assisted virtual base stations. The proposed VBS algorithm is compared with several existing location algorithms via simulations. The performance is comparably better than other methods, especially in the environments with large NLOS errors and poor geometric layout. 很感謝指導教授方凱田老師讓我進入了這個充滿活力、淺力無窮的實驗室。 在研究的路上,很感謝老師給我發揮的空間,讓我作一些有興趣的議題。在人生 規劃上,也很感謝老師與我作經驗分享,讓我可以自信地向前邁進。也感謝口試 時,給予寶貴建議的交大電信吳文榕教授和交大資工王國禎教授;有了這些建議 和問題,更能使我的研究愈臻周全和完整。

在來到交大電信所之後,我很幸運地和智迪、名宇、中義、冠宏與偉祥成為 朝夕相處的同學。我們一起作研究,一起讀書,一起遊玩;透過他們,我認識了 更多同學和朋友。大家的感情都很好,這是我的碩士求學期間的重要收穫。我想 謝謝他們大家,因為他們豐富了我碩士時期的時光。

在專業的研究上,每周長達三小時和老師、壆長昭霖、學弟柏軒與育群的討 論對我的研究有很大的幫助。學長昭霖給與的建議和指教,使我的研究更紮實; 學弟柏軒與育群的另類思考,也讓我激發出更多有趣的想法。每次都在熱烈討論 的小組會議之後,拖著疲憊的身體回寢,但是腦海中那些大家集思廣益的想法, 正是使研究更加前進的動力。就在一次又一次的努力和嚐試之後,我承繼著實驗 室之前的研究而完成了一個完整了演算法,也算是對自己碩士班研究成果的一個 呈現。

我要特別感謝我的妻子謝瑩穎。撰寫碩士論文期間的苦悶和趕稿的壓力真的 讓人很疲累。瑩穎給我充分的時間,讓我能專心的完成我的論文,同時也不斷的 鼓勵我,讓我在愈益疲憊的身心下還能打起精神繼續努力。我很感謝她為我所做 的一切。最後,我要感謝我的父母和岳父母,謝謝他們的支持和鼓勵。我要將我 的小小成果歸功於我的阿嬤、父母、岳父母和我最愛的妻子。

陳建華謹誌 於新竹交通大學

中華民國 95 年 6 月

## Contents

1 Introduction					
<b>2</b>	Rela	ated Work			
	2.1	1       Mathematical Modeling			
	2.2	.2 Studies on Existing Location Estimation Algorithms			
		2.2.1 The Subspace Method	9		
		2.2.2 The Beamforming Method	11		
		2.2.3 The Fingerprinting Method	11		
		2.2.4 The Ray-Optical Approach	12		
		2.2.5 The Taylor-Series Estimation (TSE) Algorithm	14		
		2.2.6 The Two-Step Least Square (two-step LS) Algorithm	16		
		2.2.7 The Linear Line-of-Position (LLOP) Method	19		
	2.3	Studies on Propagation Noise			
		2.3.1 Overview	22		
		2.3.2 Methods Proposed to Mitigate or Reduce the NLOS error	23		
	2.4	Studies on an Important Metric — Geometric Dilution of Precision (GDOP) $~$ .	33		
3	The	e Location Estimation with The Assistance of Virtual Base Stations	35		
	3.1	Overview	35		
	3.2	Observations from the GDOP	37		
	3.3	The Extended Two-Step LS Algorithm with Virtual Base Stations	40		
		3.3.1 Overview	40		

<b>5</b>	5 Conclusion		56	
	4.2	Simula	tion Results	49
	4.1 The Noise Models and Simulation Parameters		48	
4	4 Performance Evaluation		48	
		3.4.2	The Minimum GDOP (MG) Based Selection method	45
		3.4.1	The Center of Gravity (CG) Based Selection Method	44
	3.4 The Selection of a Virtual Base Station			44
		3.3.2	Formulation of the Extended Two-Step LS Algorithm $\hfill \ldots \ldots \ldots$ .	41



## List of Figures

1.1	Position Determination Methods: (a) Time of Arrival (b)Time Difference of	
	Arrival (c) Angel of Arrival	6
2.1	Geometric Description of Three-Antenna Case	10
2.2	The Ray-Optical Approaches Include (a) the Ray-Tracing Method and (b) the	
	Ray-Launching Method	13
2.3	The Geometry of TOA-Based Location with Circular LOPs and Linear LOPs $% \mathcal{A}$ .	20
2.4	The Range Measurements Suffer from the NOLS Errors	23
2.5	The Flow Chart of the Rwgh Algorithm	24
2.6	Mobile location estimation using the Kalman Filtering	27
2.7	The Geometry of the TOA-Based Location Showing the Relationship of the	
	True Ranges and Inter-BS Distance.	28
2.8	Geometric Constraints for TOA-Based Location Estimation Confine the True	
	MS's Position in the Overlap Region of the Range Measurements. $\ldots$	29
3.1	The Flow Chart of the VBS Algorithm	36
3.2	The GDOP Value in a Regular Triangle	38
3.3	The GDOP Value in a Square.	38
3.4	The GDOP Value in a Regular Pentagon.	39
3.5	The GDOP Value in a Regular Hexagon	39
3.6	The Location Estimation with the Assistance of the Virtual Base Stations $\ . \ .$	41

4.1	Performance Comparison between the Location Estimation Schemes under	
	NLOS Environments in $Case(1)$ (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises:	
	$\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )	50
4.2	The Positioning Processes of the VBS Schemes under NLOS Environments in	
	Case(1) (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises: $\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )	51
4.3	Performance Comparison between the Location Estimation Schemes under	
	NLOS Environments in $Case(2)$ (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises:	
	$\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )	51
4.4	The Positioning Processes of the VBS Schemes under NLOS Environments in	
	Case(2) (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises: $\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )	52
4.5	Performance Comparison between the Location Estimation Schemes under	
	NLOS Environments in $Case(3)$ (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises:	
	$\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )	53
4.6	The Positioning Processes of the VBS Schemes under NLOS Environments in	
	Case(3) (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises: $\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )	53
4.7	Performance Comparison between the Location Estimation Schemes under	
	NLOS Environments in Case(4) (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises:	
	$\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )	54
4.8	The Positioning Processes of the VBS Schemes under NLOS Environments in	
	Case(4) (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises: $\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )	54
4.9	The Comparison of the $60\%$ Average Position Errors of the Location Estimation	
	Methods under Different NLOS Errors	55

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

Wireless positioning techniques have been wildly studied over the past few decades. Today, more and more commercial applications such as the navigation system, the location-based billing, and the Intelligent Transportation System (ITS) need to cooperate their own processes with the information from the positioning systems. After the issue of the emergency 911 (E-911) subscriber safety service, the QoS of the positioning accuracy has been first-time defined. The importance and the requirements of the positioning techniques in many fields excite the research in this domain. Because of such interests and demands in location-based services (LBSs) , the studies of a new location estimation scheme considers different environment properties has been carried out.

The time-based information, said the Time-of-Arrival (TOA), is directly proportional to the distance between the transmitter (i.e. Mobile Station or MS) and the receiver (i.e. Base Station or BS). With simply multiplying by the speed of light, the distance above can be easily obtained. As presented in Fig. 1.1.(a), a range circle with a receiver being the center and the corresponding measured distance being the radius can be obtained from each communication channel. Evidently, every single point on such a circle represents a possible location of the wanted MS. The circles of two different base stations (BSs) will intersect at two points without considering the special cases of tangency and non-intersection. Three range circles are the least information required to acquire an unique point. This result can be applied to the



Figure 1.1: Position Determination Methods: (a) Time of Arrival (b)Time Difference of Arrival (c) Angel of Arrival

satellite-based and the network-based location schemes which are two major categories in existing wireless location systems.

The concept of time difference can also be used to solve the problem of positioning in the network-based system. Since the propagation time and distance between each pair of a BS and an MS are closely related, the difference of two measured time information can be associated with that of two measured distances in thinking. A hyperbola curve with two BSs as the foci can be introduced from the formulation of the difference of two distances. The intersection of two hyperbola curves will be viewed as the position of the MS, as shown in Fig. 1.1.(b). Hence the information of the Time-Difference-of-Arrival (TDOA) can be transformed into a geometric relationship and applied in the application of positioning. The extra demand in the network-based system utilizing the TDOA scheme is that synchronization of the BSs is necessary.

In a two-dimensional (2-D) scenario, an object can be localized with hybrid time and/or angle information. The Angle-of-Arrival (AOA), also known as the Direction-of-Arrival (DOA), can be adopted to proceed the task of positioning. On a reference coordinates, a line from a BS to the MS can produce an angle. It requires at least two lines that intersect with each other to locate the MS in the AOA scheme as shown in Fig. 1.1.(c). With the uncertainty of the position of MS, antenna arrays or multi-dimensional antenna are needed for every BS to obtain the direction.

The TOA, TDOA and AOA information mentioned above can be utilized individually or can be cooperated with each other in a network-based location estimation system [1] [2]. Since the expression of the distance contains inherently nonlinear terms, many mathematical solutions can not be adopted to solve the problem. Therefore, linearized approaches are applied to re-formulate the expression and estimate the position of MS [3]. However, one thing to be emphasized is that only the Line-of-Sight (LOS) case is concerned in these location methods. In this thesis, more realistic noise and interference are considered. A VBS scheme is proposed to estimate the location of MS under the considerations of NLOS (Non-Lone-of-Sight) and GDOP (Geometric-Dilution-of-Precision).

The remainder of this thesis is organized as follows. The related work, including the mathematical modeling, the existing location estimation algorithms, the propagation noise, and the GDOP effect, is briefly described in chapter 2. The observation from GDOP and the formulation of the VBS algorithm are discussed in chapter 3. The performance evaluations are shown in chapter 4, followed by the conclusions remark in chapter 5. The reference is outlined in the last part.

## Chapter 2

## **Related Work**

#### 2.1 Mathematical Modeling

The mathematical models for the TOA, TDOA, and AOA measurements are summarized as follows. The TOA measurement  $t_{\ell}$  from the  $\ell^{th}$  BS is obtained by

$$t_{\ell} = \frac{r_{\ell}}{c} = \frac{1}{c} \zeta_{\ell} + n_{\ell} \qquad \ell = 1, 2, \dots n$$
(2.1)

where c is the speed of light, and  $r_{\ell}$  represents the measured relative distance between the MS and the  $\ell^{th}$  BS contaminated with the TOA measurement noise  $n_{\ell}$ . The noiseless relative distance  $\zeta_{\ell}$  between the MS and the  $\ell^{th}$  BS can be obtained as

$$\zeta_{\ell} = \|\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x}_{\ell}\| \tag{2.2}$$

where  $\boldsymbol{x} = (x, y)$  represents the MS's position, and  $\boldsymbol{x}_{\ell} = (x_{\ell}, y_{\ell})$  is the location of the  $\ell^{th}$ BS in the 2-D setting; while in the 3-D formulation,  $\boldsymbol{x} = (x, y, z)$  and  $\boldsymbol{x}_{\ell} = (x_{\ell}, y_{\ell}, z_{\ell})$ . On the other hand, the TDOA measurement  $t_{i,j}$  is obtained by computing the time difference between the MS w.r.t. the  $i^{th}$  and the  $j^{th}$  BSs as:

$$t_{i,j} = \frac{r_{i,j}}{c} = \frac{1}{c}(\zeta_i - \zeta_j) + n_i - n_j$$
(2.3)

where  $n_i$  and  $n_j$  represent the measurement noises from the MS to the  $i^{th}$  and the  $j^{th}$  BSs. Since it is assumed that the antenna arrays at the home BS can only measure the incoming signals along the x and y directions, the AOA measurement  $\theta$  of the cellular system is obtained as

$$\theta = \tan^{-1}(\frac{y - y_1}{x - x_1}) + n_\theta \tag{2.4}$$

where  $\theta$  represents the horizontal angle between the MS and its home BS.  $(x_1, y_1)$  is the horizontal coordinate of the home BS, and  $n_{\theta}$  is the measurement noise associated with  $\theta$ .

#### 2.2 Studies on Existing Location Estimation Algorithms

Different location estimation schemes have been proposed to acquire the MS's position. Various types of information (e.g. the signal propagation time, the received angle of the signal, or the Receiving Signal Strength (RSS)) are involved to facilitated the algorithms design for location estimation. The primary objectives in most of the location estimation algorithms are to obtain higher estimation accuracy with promoted computational efficiency.

# 2.2.1 The Subspace Method

The subspace method is also known as the super-resolution method or the high-resolution method. The multiple radio wave fronts or the superposition of them are received by sensor arrays at a receiver. It utilizes the eigendecomposition or the eigenanalysis process of the cross-correlation matrix to generate the estimates of some particular parameters contained in the signals. These parameters can be the number of signals, the AOA information, the signal strength, the noise strength or the characteristic (like gain, phase and polarization) of the antennas. The most well-known super-resolution algorithm is the MUltiple SIgnal Classification (MUSIC), which can be implemented as an unbiased estimator asymptotically. The MUSIC scheme studied in [4] considers arbitrary-located antennas and a particular covariance matrix within a noisy environment.



Figure 2.1: Geometric Description of Three-Antenna Case

As shown in Fig. 2.1, multiple transmitted signal wavefronts arrival with varies directions. The incident signal vectors  $a(\theta_1)$  and  $a(\theta_2)$  can construct the range space **a**. The vectors  $\mathbf{E}_1$ ,  $\mathbf{E}_2$  and  $\mathbf{E}_3$  are the eigenvectors of the covariance matrix **S** of the received vector **r**. The  $\lambda_1$ ,  $\lambda_2$  and  $\lambda_3$  are the corresponding eigenvalues and  $\lambda_1 > \lambda_2 > \lambda_3 > 0$ . The signal subspace  $\mathbf{S}_s$ can be generated by the vectors  $\mathbf{E}_1$  and  $\mathbf{E}_2$  while the vector  $\mathbf{E}_3$  can form the noise space. The received vector **r** can be represented as the linear combination of the vector  $\mathbf{E}_1$ ,  $\mathbf{E}_2$  and  $\mathbf{E}_3$ . The AOA parameter can be solved by intersecting the vector **a** and the signal subspace  $S_s$ .

The MUSIC scheme is experimentally illustrated to be a robust solution for location estimation, especially for a near-far environment. Over fading channels, the estimator in [5] applying the MUSIC identification method intents to estimate the propagation delay of the received signal in a DS-CDMA system. In [6], the variance of the MUSIC signal source location estimates is derived and the synthetic formulation can be adopted to the correlation matrix of a biased estimator. However, it has also be shown in [7] and [8] that the drawbacks of the MUSIC approach include (i) comparably high sensitivity to large noise and (ii) its complexity in computation.

#### 2.2.2 The Beamforming Method

The beamforming system is a space-time processor that operates on the output of sensor arrays. The received temporal signal with spatial wavefront being a function of its unknown MS's position can be proceeded to locate multiple MSs, restrain interferences, and mitigate noise. It supports spatial filtering capability by enhancing the amplitude of a coherent signal associated with surrounding noises. The conventional adaptive beamforming technique is sensitive to the estimation error of the position of MS. Signal distortion or cancellation will be introduced in the iterative process.

A combination of localization and beamforming is proposed as in [9]. It utilizing the MU-SIC scheme to provide the ability of self-correcting and increase the robustness to locate errors without sacrificing the computation efficiency under the assumption that the number of MS and the characteristic of the noise are known. An enhanced algorithm for simultaneous multi-source beamforming and adaptive multi-target tracking is studied in [10]. The correlation between the adaptive minimum variance (MV) beamforming and the optimal source localization is also investigated and developed as in [11]. Under equal priors, it shows that the optimal source localization decision rule (i.e. the log-likelihood function) is directly proportional to the output power of the adaptive MV beamformer.

#### 2.2.3 The Fingerprinting Method

Instead of exploiting the spatial and temporal information of the signal, the location fingerprinting technique locates the MS based on the received signal strength (RSS).

The fingerprinting technique involves both the off-line and the on-line phases. First in the off-line mode, the location fingerprinting senses the RSS from multiple access points (AP) in a 802.11 wireless local area network. A location-scanned database is stored in a sink node and a rectangular grid network covered a specific service area is ready as a radio map after collecting enough statistical data. The location fingerprinting means the signal strength value at a grid point of the radio map. The second mode comes with the on-line phase in real-time processes. When a radio signal is received at multiple access points, a measured RSS vector can be

obtained and is used to compare with the location fingerprinting map at the sink node. In order to minimize the error of location estimation, it generally applies a proximity-matching method, like Euclidean distance, to figure out the position of the MS.

The characteristics of radio signals in indoor environments are discussed in [12]. For WLAN location fingerprinting, the distribution of RSS is usually not Gaussian, and its standard deviation is signal-level dependent. In addition, it demonstrates that the effect of the existence or movement of persons apparently affects the location fingerprinting and the information of the changes should be recorded on the sink node. In [13], a method for arranging and designing parameters is proposed when considering deploying a indoor positioning system. A hybrid algorithm, which combines the RF propagation loss model, is proposed to both mitigate the requirement of the training data and to adjust the configuration changes [14].

#### 2.2.4 The Ray-Optical Approach

The ray-tracing and ray-launching techniques are the two ray optical approaches for location estimation. The radio signals that are launched from a transmitter and reflected or diffracted by various objects are aggregated in a receiver. The rays are treated as the traces of radio signals and are summed individually to determine the corresponding electric field strengths.

In the method of ray-tracing, the generation of a image comes with a reflection of a ray. As shown in Fig. 2.2.(a), the images T1 and T2 are relative to the transmitter T. High accuracy can be achieved by tracking each trace apart, but the cost of high computation time can not avoid. In the ray-launching approach, as illustrated in Fig. 2.2.(b), rays launched from the transmitter reflect and diffract across the indoor circumstance. Every time a ray reflect from a wall or diffract by a cone, the number of intersections will be added by 1 and the field will be accumulated. When the number of intersection or path loss exceed a threshold, the tracing of a ray will stop. One thing to be emphasized is that a vast amount of diffracted rays may be introduced and heavily increase the load of the location system.

Experimental formulas from extensive measurements of urban and suburban propagation



Figure 2.2: The Ray-Optical Approaches Include (a) the Ray-Tracing Method and (b) the Ray-Launching Method

losses are studied as in [15] [16]. The unknown indoor parameters, such as materials, layouts will significantly affect the propagation predictions of rays. An indoor micro cell area prediction system is proposed in [17] and the prediction can be effortlessly estimated by using ray-tracing scheme.

A ray-launching approach is enhanced with two methods, i.e. the effective-propagationarea method and the dominant-corner extraction method [18]. By restricting the behaviors of the propagations, it saves the computation time and efficiently fulfills the prediction of propagation characteristics. The improved three dimensional indoor radio propagation techniques are developed in [19] and [20].

#### 2.2.5 The Taylor-Series Estimation (TSE) Algorithm

In [21], the Taylor series method is applied to linearize the equations of the range measurements and hence the location calculations are simplified.

As mentioned in section 2.1, (x, y) is the position of the MS and  $(x_{\ell}, y_{\ell})$  is the position of the  $\ell^{th}$  base station and  $r_{\ell}$  is the TOA measurement from the base station  $\ell$ . Assuming that the propagation noise can be neglected, the range measurement can be expressed as

$$\zeta_{\ell} = r_{\ell} - n_{\ell} = f_{\ell}(x, y, x_{\ell}, y_{\ell})$$
(2.5)

where  $\zeta_{\ell}$  represents the noiseless distance between the MS and the  $\ell^{th}$  BS.  $n_{\ell}$  is the measurement noise and is statistically distributed. We take the noises to have zero-mean values  $\langle n_{\ell} \rangle = 0$  and  $n_{ij} = \langle n_i n_j \rangle$  is the  $i - j^{th}$  term in the covariance matrix

$$\mathbf{Q} = [n_{ij}]$$

If the  $x_v$ ,  $y_v$  are the initial guessed values of the true MS's position, the MS's position (x,y) can be written as

$$x = x_v + \delta_x \qquad y = y_v + \delta_y \tag{2.6}$$

where  $\delta_x$  and  $\delta_y$  are the deviations of the MS's position (x, y) and the corresponding initial guessed position  $(x_v, y_v)$ .

Expand the function  $f_{\ell}$  in Taylor's series by keeping only terms below second order as:

$$f_{\ell} = r_{\ell} - n_{\ell} \cong f_{\ell v} + a_{\ell 1} \delta_x + a_{\ell 2} \delta_y \tag{2.7}$$

where

where

$$f_{\ell v} = f_{\ell}(x_v, y_v, x_{\ell}, y_{\ell})$$
$$a_{\ell 1} = \partial f_{\ell} / \partial x|_{x_v, y_v} \qquad a_{\ell 2} = \partial f_{\ell} / \partial y|_{x_v, y_v}$$

The approximate relations of (2.7) can be written as

$$\mathbf{A}\underline{\delta} \cong \mathbf{z} - \mathbf{n}$$
(2.8)  
$$\mathbf{A} = \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ a_{N1} & a_{N2} \end{bmatrix} \qquad \underbrace{\delta} = \begin{bmatrix} \delta_x \\ \delta_y \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{z} = \begin{bmatrix} r_1 - f_{1v} \\ r_2 - f_{2v} \\ \vdots \\ r_N - f_{Nv} \end{bmatrix} \qquad \mathbf{n} = \begin{bmatrix} n_1 \\ n_2 \\ \vdots \\ n_N \end{bmatrix}$$

The parameter  $\underline{\delta}$  can be chosen as

$$\underline{\delta} = (\mathbf{A}^T \mathbf{Q}^{-1} \mathbf{A})^{-1} \mathbf{A}^T \mathbf{Q} \mathbf{z}$$
(2.9)

Thus, to estimate the position of the MS, compute  $\delta_x$ ,  $\delta_y$  with (2.9), replace

$$x_v \leftarrow x_v + \delta_x \quad y_v \leftarrow y_v + \delta_y \tag{2.10}$$

in (2.9), and repeat the computations. The iterations will be converged when  $\delta_x$  and  $\delta_y$  are

essentially zero.

#### 2.2.6 The Two-Step Least Square (two-step LS) Algorithm

The content of this section will show the two-step least square location algorithm for the TOA measurements and it can be obtained in [22]. The two-step LS method for the TDOA measurements can be derived from the similar concept.

The notations of the MS's position and the base stations are the same as those in the TSE algorithm described in the previous section. The small propagation noises are concerned in the two-step LS algorithm. The additive noises are assumed to be Gaussian-distributed and independent of the radio signals. By incorporating the influences of the propagation errors on the location estimation, the range measurements can be formulated as

$$r_{\ell}^{2} \ge (x_{\ell} - x)^{2} + (y_{\ell} - y)^{2} = \kappa_{\ell} - 2x_{\ell}x - y_{\ell}y + x^{2} + y^{2} \qquad \ell = 1, 2, \dots N$$
(2.11)

where  $\kappa_{\ell} = x_{\ell}^2 + y_{\ell}^2$ ,  $r_{\ell} = ct_{\ell}$  is the measured distance between the MS and the  $\ell^{th}$  base station, and c is the speed of light. And by defining a new variable  $\beta = x^2 + y^2$ , we rewrite (2.11) through a set of linear expressions

$$-2x_{\ell}x - 2y_{\ell}y + \beta \le r_{\ell}^2 - \kappa_{\ell} \qquad \ell = 1, 2, \dots N$$
(2.12)

Let  $\boldsymbol{x}_a = [x \quad y \quad \beta]^T$  and express (2.12) in matrix form

$$\mathbf{H}\boldsymbol{x}_a \le \mathbf{J} \tag{2.13}$$

where

$$\mathbf{H} = \begin{bmatrix} -2x_1 & -2y_1 & 1\\ -2x_2 & -2y_2 & 1\\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots\\ -2x_N & -2y_N & 1 \end{bmatrix} \qquad \mathbf{J} = \begin{bmatrix} r_1^2 - \kappa_1 \\ r_2^2 - \kappa_2 \\ \vdots \\ r_N^2 - \kappa_N \end{bmatrix}$$

With measurement noise, the error vector is

$$\psi = \mathbf{J} - \mathbf{H}\boldsymbol{x}_a \tag{2.14}$$

When  $r_{\ell}$  can be expressed as  $\xi_{\ell} + cn_{\ell}$ , the error vector  $\psi$  is found to be

$$\psi = 2c\mathbf{Bn} + c^2\mathbf{n} \odot \mathbf{n}$$
  

$$\mathbf{B} = diag\{\xi_1, \xi_2, ..., \xi_N\}$$
(2.15)

The symbol  $\odot$  represents the Schur product (element-by-element product). In addition, the second term on the right of (2.15) can be ignored since the condition  $cn_{\ell} \leq \xi_{\ell}$  is usually satisfied. As a result,  $\psi$  becomes a Gaussian random vector with covariance matrix given by

$$\Psi = E[\psi\psi^T] = 4c^2 \mathbf{BQB}$$
(2.16)

**Q** is the covariance matrix of measured noise, and  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_N$  are denoted as the true values of distances between the sources and the receiver. The element  $\boldsymbol{x}_a$  are related by the equation,  $\beta = x^2 + y^2$ , which means that (2.13) is still a set of nonlinear equations in two variables x and y. The approach to solve the nonlinear problem is to first assume that there is no relationship among x, y and  $\beta$ . It can then be solved by the Least Square (LS) method. The final solution is obtained by imposing the known relationship to the computed result via another LS computation. This two step procedure is an approximation of a true Maximum Likelihood (ML) estimator. By considering the elements of  $\boldsymbol{x}_a$  independent, the ML estimator of  $\boldsymbol{x}_a$  is

$$\boldsymbol{x}_{a} = \arg \min\{(\mathbf{J} - \mathbf{H}\boldsymbol{x})^{T} \boldsymbol{\Psi}^{-1} (\mathbf{J} - \mathbf{H}\boldsymbol{x})\}$$
$$= (\mathbf{H}^{T} \boldsymbol{\Psi}^{-1} \mathbf{H})^{-1} \mathbf{H}^{T} \boldsymbol{\Psi}^{-1} \mathbf{J}$$
(2.17)

The covariance matrix of  $\boldsymbol{x}_a$  is obtained by evaluating the expectations of  $\boldsymbol{x}_a$  and  $\boldsymbol{x}_a \boldsymbol{x}_a^T$  from

(2.17). The covariance matrix of  $\boldsymbol{x}_a$  can be calculated as [23]

$$cov(\boldsymbol{x}_a) = (\mathbf{H}^T \Psi^{-1} \mathbf{H})^{-1}$$
(2.18)

Since we have used the independent supposition of variables x, y, and  $\beta$  in the estimation of  $\boldsymbol{x}_a$  though the variable  $\beta$  is dependent on the variable x and y, we should revise the results as follows. Let the estimation errors of x, y, and  $\beta$  be  $e_1$ ,  $e_2$ , and  $e_3$ . Here and below, denote the  $i^{th}$  entry of a matrix M as  $[M]_i$ ; then the entries in vector  $\boldsymbol{x}_a$  become

$$[\boldsymbol{x}_a]_1 = x_o + e_1 \tag{2.19a}$$

$$[\boldsymbol{x}_a]_2 = y_o + e_2 \tag{2.19b}$$

$$[\boldsymbol{x}_a]_3 = \beta_o + e_3 \tag{2.19c}$$

where  $x_o$ ,  $y_o$ , and  $\beta_o$  are denoted as the true values of x, y, and  $\beta$ . Let another error vector

$$\boldsymbol{\mathbf{H}}_{b} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{J}_{b} & \mathbf{H}_{b} \boldsymbol{x}_{b} \\ \mathbf{I}_{b} & \mathbf{I}_{b} \\ \mathbf{I}_{a} & \mathbf{I}_{b} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} [\boldsymbol{x}_{a}]_{1}^{2} \\ [\boldsymbol{x}_{a}]_{2}^{2} \\ [\boldsymbol{x}_{a}]_{3} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.20)

where

and 
$$\boldsymbol{x}_b = \begin{bmatrix} x^2 \\ y^2 \end{bmatrix}$$
. Substituting (2.19a) - (2.19c) into (2.20), we have

$$\begin{split} [\psi]_1 &= 2x_o e_1 + e_1^2 \approx 2x_o e_1 \\ [\psi]_2 &= 2y_o e_2 + e_2^2 \approx 2y_o e_2 \\ [\psi]_3 &= e_3 \end{split}$$

Obviously, the above approximations are valid only when the errors  $e_1$ ,  $e_2$ , and  $e_3$  are fairly

small. Subsequently, the covariance matrix of  $\psi_b$  is

$$\Psi_b = E[\psi_b \psi_b^T] = 4\mathbf{B}_b cov(\boldsymbol{x})\mathbf{B}_b$$
  
$$\mathbf{B}_b = diag\{x_o, y_o, 0.5\}$$
 (2.22)

As an approximation, elements  $x_o$  and  $y_o$  in matrix  $\mathbf{x}$  can be replaced by the first two elements x and y in  $\mathbf{x}_a$ . Similarly, the ML estimate of  $\mathbf{x}_b$  is given by

$$\boldsymbol{x}_b = (\mathbf{H}_b^T \boldsymbol{\Psi}_b^{-1} \mathbf{H}_b)^{-1} \mathbf{H}_b^T \boldsymbol{\Psi}_b^{-1} \mathbf{J}_b$$
(2.23)

$$\approx (\mathbf{H}_b^T \mathbf{B}_b^{-1} (cov(\boldsymbol{x})_a)^{-1} \mathbf{B}_b^{-1} \mathbf{H}_b)^{-1}$$
(2.24)

• 
$$(\mathbf{H}_b^T \mathbf{B}_b^{-1} (cov(\boldsymbol{x})_a)^{-1} \mathbf{B}_b^{-1}) \mathbf{J}_b$$
 (2.25)

So the final position estimation  $\boldsymbol{x} = [x \ y]^T$  is

$$\boldsymbol{x} = \sqrt{\boldsymbol{x}_b}, \quad or \quad \boldsymbol{x} = -\sqrt{\boldsymbol{x}_b}$$
 (2.26)

Here the sign of x should coincide with the sign of  $[x_a]_1$  calculated by solving (2.17), and the sign of y coincides with the sign of  $[x_a]_2$ .

The complete derivation of the two-step LS for the TOA measurements is shown as above. In addition, the two-step LS method can be adopted to estimate MS location from the TDOA [23], and the TDOA/AOA measurements [24].

#### 2.2.7 The Linear Line-of-Position (LLOP) Method

The linear line-of-position methods can be utilized to locate the MS's position by using the TOA measurements as in [25], and the hybrid TOA/AOA measurements in [26]. The content of this section will show the linear Line-of-Position (LLOP) and it can be referred to [25].

The TOA location method measures the ranges between the MS and the BSs. This range



Figure 2.3: The Geometry of TOA-Based Location with Circular LOPs and Linear LOPs

between the  $\ell^{th}$  BS and the MS can be expressed as

$$\zeta_{\ell} = \sqrt{(x_{\ell} - x)^2 + (y_{\ell} - y)^2} \tag{2.27}$$

where (x, y) is the position of the MS,  $(x_{\ell}, y_{\ell})$  is the position of the  $\ell^{th}$  BS. The relationship between the ranges for three BSs, their location, and the position of the MS are shown in Fig. 2.3 in two dimensions.

The Linear Line-of-Position (LLOP) method is based on the observations of Fig. 2.3. Instead of utilizing the circular LOPs, the LLOP presents the approach of the linear LOPs, a new interpretation of the geometry of TOA location. Since two TOA measurements intersections at two points generate a line, the least number of BSs (i.e. 3) used to estimate the location of the MS in 2-D scenarios will produce two independent lines. As indicated in Fig. 2.3, the new LLOPs also intersect at the location of the MS.

To determine the equations for the new linear LOPs, we must start with the original LOP equations, given in (2.27) for  $\ell = 1, 2, 3$ . The lines which pass through the intersection of the three circular LLOPs can be obtained by squaring and differentiating the ranges in (2.27) for

 $\ell = 1, 2$  and  $\ell = 1, 3$ , which result in

$$(x_2 - x_1)x + (y_2 - y_1)y = \frac{1}{2}(x_2^2 - x_1^2 + \zeta_1^2 - \zeta_2^2)$$
(2.28)

$$(x_3 - x_1)x + (y_3 - y_1)y = \frac{1}{2}(x_3^2 - x_1^2 + \zeta_1^2 - \zeta_3^2)$$
(2.29)

Given the two linear LOPs above, the location of the MS can be obtained by solving (2.28) and (2.29). The location of the MS (x, y) can be obtained as

$$x = \frac{(y_2 - y_1)C_2 - (y_3 - y_1)C_1}{(x_3 - x_1)(y_2 - y_1) - (x_2 - x_1)(y_3 - y_1)}$$
(2.30)

$$y = \frac{(x_2 - x_1)C_2 - (x_3 - x_1)C_1}{(x_2 - x_1)(y_3 - y_1) - (x_3 - x_1)(y_2 - y_1)}$$
(2.31)

where

$$C_1 = (x_2^2 - x_1^2 + \zeta_1^2 - \zeta_2^2)$$
$$C_2 = (x_3^2 - x_1^2 + \zeta_1^2 - \zeta_3^2)$$

The scheme developed the location geometry for locating a MS in the 2-D plane with three BSs. When there are more than the minimum number (i.e. greater than three BSs in the 2-D plane and there are measurement errors in the TOA signals, two approaches to algorithm development can be taken: an intersection solution (geometry based) and a least squares solution.

#### **Intersection Solution**

This approach can be generalized for N total BSs where independent N - 1 lines can be produced from the intersections of the N circles. These N - 1 linear LOPs could then be used to compute the intersection points. All of the intersections of the independent N - 1 lines could be used to obtain  $\frac{(N-1)(N-2)}{2}$  intersection points. As a result, the location of the MS could be found from the mean of the intersection points or the centroid of a polygon formed by these points.

#### Least Squares Solution

An alternative approach to the solution of geometric equations is to compute the position of the MS using a least squares when the number of the received BSs (N) is more than three. Each of the independent N - 1 lines is represented in the form (as shown in (2.28)- (2.29))

$$a_{\ell,1}x + a_{\ell,2}y = \boldsymbol{a}_{\ell}^T \boldsymbol{x} = b_{\ell}$$
(2.32)

for the  $\ell^{th}$  line, where  $\mathbf{a}_{\ell} = [a_{\ell,1}, a_{\ell,2}]^T$  and  $\boldsymbol{x} = [x, y]^T$ . The equations describing all of the lines can be written in matrix form as

$$\mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{x} = \mathbf{b} \tag{2.33}$$

where  $\mathbf{A}^T = [a_1 \ a_2 \dots a_G]$ ,  $\mathbf{b} = [b_1 \ b_2 \dots b_G]^T$ , and G is the number of lines used. Due to the measurement errors, the LS estimate is used to obtain a solution  $\hat{x}$ 

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{x}} = (\mathbf{A}^T \mathbf{A})^{-1} \mathbf{A}^T \mathbf{b}$$
(2.34)

This algorithm is obviously much less difficult than the geometric method since there is no need to compute intersections of many lines.

#### 2.3 Studies on Propagation Noise

#### 2.3.1 Overview

The precision of time measurement significantly leads the performance of the location algorithms which utilize the time-base information. The transmitted radio signal can reach the receiver in the shortest time in the case that there are no barriers in the direct connection between the transmitter and the receiver. This is called the Line-of-Sight (LOS) situation, which often occurs in a open space. Yet, this ideal situation usually can not meet in a obstacleconcentrated environment such as a dense urban or an office inside a building. The emitted



Figure 2.4: The Range Measurements Suffer from the NOLS Errors.

radio signal is either reflected or diffracted by obstructions, and it must take extra time to arrive at the receiver. The additional propagation time is so-called the Non-Line-of-Sight (NLOS) error, and is always positive as presented in Fig. 2.4. The NLOS error is viewed as a killer issue for location estimation [27]. The excess part of the time measurements will result in range errors on the order of 513 meters and 436 meters in the mean and the standard deviation respectively [28], which inevitably makes a time-based location algorithm to fail.

#### 2.3.2 Methods Proposed to Mitigate or Reduce the NLOS error

#### Identifying NLOS Error According to the Residual Analysis

The residual weighting algorithm (Rwgh) proposed in [29] exploits the concept of the LS estimator and the weighting of each intermediate estimate to identify the NLOS error without any prior information. It takes three steps to figure out the NLOS error. First, it chooses a subset n from the N range measurements to form a range set where  $2 < n \leq N$ . Second, it proceeds the calculation of the intermediate LS estimate  $\tilde{\mathbf{x}}$ , which is the vector minimizes



Figure 2.5: The Flow Chart of the Rwgh Algorithm

 $R_{es}$ , and the sum of the residual squares over the data of the corresponding combination S.

$$R_{es}(\mathbf{x}, S) = \sum_{i \in s} [r_i - \|\mathbf{x} - x_i\|]^2$$
(2.35)

 $\tilde{\mathbf{x}} = \arg \min_{\mathbf{x}} \quad R_{es}(\mathbf{x}, S) \tag{2.36}$ 

The estimated  $\hat{R}_{es}$  containing NLOS measurement is deservedly larger than that of other estimates. Hence, the weighting is inversely proportional to  $\hat{R}_{es}$  of the estimate. At last, the final estimates can be expressed as a weighted linear combination of the previous intermediate estimates.

The flow chart of this algorithm is shown in Fig. 2.5. Both Deterministic and random NLOS errors are concerned. The estimated  $\hat{R}_{es}$  with varies numbers of range combinations are compared with the all-LOS case and the case suffered from NLOS error. The performance shows that the Rwgh is effective to resist the NLOS error.

#### Identifying NLOS Error According to the Standard Deviations

The transmitted radio signal corrupted by the NLOS errors arrives at the receives through multiple channels. The characteristics of these channels can be obtained after acquiring enough statistical data. The standard deviation, a kind of prior information, is used in [30] to identify the NLOS error.

Once a radio signal reaches the receiver m, the range measurement  $r_m(t_i)$  is formulated by using an  $N^{th}$  order polynomial fit and its unknown coefficients is solved by the least square techniques. A smoothed measurement  $s_m(t_i)$  utilizing the solved coefficients above is presented as another  $N^{th}$  order polynomial function. The standard deviation at this moment can be derived as

$$\hat{\sigma}_m = \sqrt{\frac{1}{K} \sum_{i=0}^{K-1} (s_m(t_i) - r_m(t_i))^2}$$
(2.37)

Suppose that  $\sigma_m$  is the standard deviation of the LOS cases that is calculated when the transmitter has LOS with the receiver m. It is well-known that the NLOS effect will increase the standard deviation of the range measurements in a great manner. According to the time history of range measurements, a decision hypothesis distinguishing NLOS from LOS is made as

$$H_0: \hat{\sigma}_m = \sigma_m \quad (\text{LOS case}) \tag{2.38}$$

$$H_1: \hat{\sigma}_m > \sigma_m \quad (\text{NLOS case})$$
 (2.39)

The NLOS-contaminated signal can be identified and corrected. The corrected signal can be proceeded with positioning and a better estimate is expected.

#### Identifying NLOS Error According to the Theoretic Decision Rules

The theoretic framework in [31] offers a binary hypothesis test to classify whether a range measurement is corrupted by NLOS error or not. It is assumed that the error distributions can be categorized with respect to the NLOS and the LOS transmissions. The statistical characteristic of the LOS error is assigned as a Gaussian distribution with zero mean and variance  $\sigma_{los}^2$ . The distribution of NLOS error is also modelled as Gaussian with mean  $\mu_{nlos}$  and variance  $\sigma_{nlos}^2$ . It is noted that  $\mu_{nlos} > 0$  and  $\sigma_{nlos}^2 > \sigma_{los}^2$ . The general binary hypothesis test for NLOS identification is as followed.

$$H_0: X \sim f_{X_{los}}$$
 with prior probability  $P(H_0)$  (LOS condition) (2.40)

$$H_1: X \sim f_{X_{nlos}}$$
 with prior probability  $P(H_1)$  (NLOS condition) (2.41)

Five cases are classified and summarized according to whether the probability model, prior probability, and the characteristic (i.e. the mean and variance) of NLOS error is known or not. Four different hypothesis tests are presented with different combinations of the above statistical information. It is worthy of mention that the fifth decision rule is the same with that of the previous approach when the model of NLOS distribution is unknown.

#### Mitigating NLOS Error by Using Kalman Filtering

The Kalman filter is commonly used in smoothing a data set or tracking an object. An application [32] applying two Kalman filters, one for smoothing and the other for tracking, proceeds the task of positioning in a NLOS environment. The method first periodically samples the received radio signals to gather enough data to estimate the standard deviation  $\hat{\sigma}_m$ , and identifies the NLOS-corrupted range measurements by the following hypothesis test.

$$H_0: \hat{\sigma}_m = \gamma \sigma_m \quad (\text{LOS case}) \tag{2.42}$$

$$H_1: \hat{\sigma}_m > \gamma \sigma_m \quad \text{(NLOS case)} \tag{2.43}$$

The  $\sigma_m$  is the standard deviation of the measurement noise in the LOS case. The presence of  $\gamma$  is to reduce the false alarm probability. The classified LOS and NLOS range measurements in Fig. 2.6 are then passed to the Kalman filters behind. The smoothing procedure is taken to proceed the LOS range measurements to an unbiased Kalman filter, and the NLOS ones to



Figure 2.6: Mobile location estimation using the Kalman Filtering

a biased Kalman filter. The NLOS error is mitigated step by step with the bias obtained at the sampling state. The proceeded TOA data are continuously fed to the process of location estimation. A Kalman filter finally handles these estimated position data of the mobile to acquire a smooth trajectory.

#### Mitigating NLOS Error According to the Properties of Geometry

The NLOS error is reduced in a cell-based layout without knowing the prior information of the range measurements [33]. In addition, a large number of base stations required in [29] are not necessary in this proposed method. A true range measurement is expressed as a multiplication of the corresponding measured range and a scale factor. The function of a scale factor is to scale a NOLS-corrupted range measurement to be closer to the true range. Each scale factor is varied from 0 to 1, and all the three scale factors form a vector  $\mathbf{v}$ . The upper bound U of the vector  $\mathbf{v}$  is  $[1\ 1\ 1]^T$ . As shown in Fig. 2.7, a nonlinear equality  $g(\mathbf{v})$  is derived by utilizing the law of cosines. The formula  $g(\mathbf{v})$  is a function of the measured ranges, the distance of any two of the three base stations, and the vector  $\mathbf{v}$ .



Figure 2.7: The Geometry of the TOA-Based Location Showing the Relationship of the True Ranges and Inter-BS Distance.

In the Fig. 2.7, the limitations of the lower bound L of the vector  $\mathbf{v}$  is characterized by confirming that any measured range circle must intersect with another two. The intersections A, B and C of the three measured ranges are the 3 closest points to the MS. A nonlinear cost function  $F(\mathbf{v})$  is then presented as the squared sum of the distances between the mobile station and these intersections. Given  $g(\mathbf{v}) = 0$  and the boundary of the vector  $\mathbf{v}$ , the objective function  $F(\mathbf{v})$  is constraint-optimized with the applying of the sequential quadratic programming (SQP) algorithm to obtain the estimated scale vector  $\hat{\mathbf{v}}$  as

$$\hat{\mathbf{v}} = \min_{L \le \mathbf{v} \le U} \quad F(\mathbf{v}) \quad \text{subject to} \quad g(\mathbf{v}) = 0$$
(2.44)

Finally, the MS location is decided by taking the estimated scale vector  $\hat{\mathbf{v}}$  into any conventional location algorithms.



Figure 2.8: Geometric Constraints for TOA-Based Location Estimation Confine the True MS's Position in the Overlap Region of the Range Measurements.

#### Mitigating NLOS Error According to the Properties of Geometry and Noise Variance

As illustrated in Fig. 2.8, the MS's location estimation using the Two-Step Least Square method may fall inside or outside of the boundaries of the three arcs, **AB**, **BC**, and **CA**. With the larger overlap region caused by the increasing NLOS error, the inaccuracy of the location estimation of the MS consequentially raises. The characteristics of the geometric layout and the noise variances are applied to a method named the Geometry-Constrained Location Estimation (GLE) algorithm [34] to modify the formulations within the Two-Step Least Square method. The primary objective of the proposed GLE algorithm is to confirm the location estimate within the overlap region by joining the geometric constraints into the Two-Step LS method.

A specific information derived from the constraints of the geometric layout is added into

the Two-Step Least Square method. The constrained cost function  $\gamma$  is given by

$$\gamma = \left[\sum_{\mu=a,b,c} \frac{1}{3} \|\boldsymbol{x} - \mu\|^2\right]^{1/2}$$
(2.45)

where  $\boldsymbol{x}$  is the MS's location as mentioned before;  $\boldsymbol{a} = (x_a, y_a), \boldsymbol{b} = (x_b, y_b)$ , and  $\boldsymbol{c} = (x_c, y_c)$ represent the corresponding coordinates of the points A, B, and C. The parameter  $\gamma$  defined as the square root of the average squared-sum of the distance from the MS to the three points  $\mathbf{A}, \mathbf{B}$  and  $\mathbf{C}$  is called the *virtual distance* and obviously varies as the three coordinates  $\boldsymbol{a}, \boldsymbol{b}$ and  $\boldsymbol{c}$  changes. The corresponding *expected virtual distance*  $\gamma_{\mathbf{e}}$  is defined as

$$\gamma_e = \left[\sum_{\mu=\boldsymbol{a},\boldsymbol{b},\boldsymbol{c}} \frac{1}{3} \|\boldsymbol{x}_e - \mu\|^2\right]^{1/2} = \gamma + n_\gamma$$
(2.46)

where  $n_{\gamma}$  is the error induced by the computed deviation between  $\gamma_e$  and  $\gamma$ . The  $x_e$  called the expected MS's position is chosen to minimize the deviation between the *virtual distance*  $\gamma$  and the corresponding *expected virtual distance*  $\gamma_e$ . The coordinates of the expected MS position  $x_e$  is a linear combination of those of the three points A, B, and C with the parameters acting as weights which is related to the signal variations.

$$x_e = w_1 x_a + w_2 x_b + w_3 x_c (2.47a)$$

$$y_e = w_1 y_a + w_2 y_b + w_3 y_c \tag{2.47b}$$

where

$$w_{\ell} = \frac{\sigma_{\ell}^2}{\sigma_1^2 + \sigma_2^2 + \sigma_3^2} \qquad \text{for } \ell = 1, 2, 3 \tag{2.48}$$

 $\sigma_1$ ,  $\sigma_2$ , and  $\sigma_3$  are the corresponding standard deviations obtained from the three TOA measurements  $r_1$ ,  $r_2$ , and  $r_3$ .

The selection of the weights is directly proportional to the corresponding signal variances. For example, the excessive range measurement  $r_1$  due to the comparatively large signal variance  $\sigma_1$  may probably cause the true position of the MS to move incorrectly toward to the boundary of the arc **BC**. Therefore, the weighting of the coordinates of  $\boldsymbol{a}$  should be relatively large to make the true position of the MS to move toward the point A of the analogous triangle.

The GLE algorithm integrates the geometric constraints into the first step of the Two-Step Least Square method is defined as:

$$\mathbf{H}\boldsymbol{x} = \mathbf{J} + \boldsymbol{\psi} \tag{2.49}$$

where



The corresponding coefficients are given by

$$\beta = x^{2} + y^{2}$$

$$\kappa_{\ell} = x_{\ell}^{2} + y_{\ell}^{2} \quad \text{for } \ell = 1, 2, 3$$

$$\gamma_{x} = \frac{1}{3}(x_{a} + x_{b} + x_{c})$$

$$\gamma_{y} = \frac{1}{3}(y_{a} + y_{b} + y_{c})$$

$$\gamma_{\kappa} = \frac{1}{3}(x_{a}^{2} + x_{b}^{2} + x_{c}^{2} + y_{a}^{2} + y_{b}^{2} + y_{c}^{2})$$

The noise matrix  $\psi$  in (2.49) can be obtained as

$$\psi = 2 c \mathbf{B} \mathbf{n} + c^2 \mathbf{n}^2 \tag{2.50}$$

where

$$\mathbf{B} = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \begin{array}{ccc} \zeta_1, & \zeta_2, & \zeta_3, & \gamma \end{array} \right\}$$
$$\mathbf{n} = \left[ \begin{array}{ccc} n_1 & n_2 & n_3 & n_\gamma/c \end{array} \right]^T$$

Based on the two-step LS scheme, an intermediate location estimate after the first step can be obtained as

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{x}} = (\mathbf{H}^T \boldsymbol{\Psi}^{-1} \mathbf{H})^{-1} \mathbf{H}^T \boldsymbol{\Psi}^{-1} \mathbf{J}$$
(2.51)

where



It is noted that  $\Psi$  is obtained by neglecting the second term of (2.50). The matrix **Q** can be acquired as

$$\mathbf{Q} = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} \sigma_1^2, & \sigma_2^2, & \sigma_3^2, & \sigma_{\gamma_e}^2/c^2 \end{array} \right\}$$

**Q** represents the covariance matrix for both the TOA measurements and the *expected virtual* distance, where  $\sigma_{\gamma_e/c}^2$  corresponds to the standard deviation of  $\gamma_e/c$ . The final location estimation can be obtained by continuously carrying on the second step of the Two-Step Least Square method [22].

## 2.4 Studies on an Important Metric — Geometric Dilution of Precision (GDOP)

The GDOP is a metric that describes the effect of different BS layouts on the performance of location algorithms. It is a measurement-to-noise ratio on standard deviation.

Let the distance  $\zeta_i$  from the MS to the  $i^{th}$  BS in 2-D condition is given as

$$\zeta_i = \sqrt{(x - x_i)^2 + (y - y_i)^2} \quad i = 1, 2, \dots N$$
(2.52)

where  $(x_i, y_i)$  are the known coordinates of the  $i^{th}$  BS, and (x, y) is the unknown position of the MS. The matrix **M** is the partial deviations of the noise-free measurement equations with respect to the unknown parameters (i.e. x and y).

$$\mathbf{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \zeta_1}{\partial x} & \frac{\partial \zeta_1}{\partial y} \\ \frac{\partial \zeta_2}{\partial x} & \frac{\partial \zeta_2}{\partial y} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \frac{\partial \zeta_N}{\partial x} & \frac{\partial \zeta_N}{\partial y} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{x - x_1}{\zeta_1} & \frac{y - y_1}{\zeta_1} \\ \frac{x - x_2}{\zeta_2} & \frac{y - y_2}{\zeta_2} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \frac{x - x_N}{\zeta_N} & \frac{y - y_N}{\zeta_N} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.53)

The Best, Linear, Unbiased Estimate (BLUE) of (x, y) obtains the variance as

$$Var(\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}) = diag(\mathbf{M}^T \mathbf{Q}^{-1} \mathbf{M})^{-1}$$
(2.54)

where the matrix Q is the noise covariance matrix. Define  $G_{2\times 2}$  as

$$G = \frac{Var(\hat{\boldsymbol{x}})}{\mathbf{Q}} \tag{2.55}$$

and the GDOP will be given by

$$GDOP = \sqrt{G_{1,1} + G_{2,2}} \tag{2.56}$$

The GDOP can also be yielded when the range differences are concerned instead of the

range measurements. If the noise errors are simplified by i.i.d. distribution with mean 0 and variance  $\sigma_n^2$ , the matrix G will translate into

$$G = (\mathbf{M}^T \mathbf{M})^{-1} \tag{2.57}$$

A statement in [35] demonstrates that given a Gaussian-distributed noise, the GDOP and the Cramer-Rao lower Bound (CRLB) are identical. In [36], the minimum GDOP inside a K-side  $(K \ge 3)$  regular polygon takes place at the center of the layout and the value is  $\frac{2}{\sqrt{K}}$ . To verify the conclusions in [36], a series of simulations with TOA or TDOA information are tried in a K-side regular polygon. The results show that the shape of the GDOP seems to be a concave function and the value at the center is minimum and comparable to  $\frac{2}{\sqrt{K}}$ .



### Chapter 3

## The Location Estimation with The Assistance of Virtual Base Stations

ALL LAND

#### 3.1 Overview

The Taylor-Series Estimation (TSE) algorithm [21] mentioned in section 2.1.5 transfers an original measurement range into a simplified form by a linearized process. The adoption of the first-order Taylor expansion for two variables notably simplifies the utilization of the Least Square (LS) method on the range data. The method takes the error covariance matrix into the formulation and views it as the weighting of the range data. An initial guess of the MS's position is necessary for the algorithm to continue the estimation iteratively. A diverged result may occur due to a improper initial guess of the MS's position. The two-step LS method in section 2.1.6 can use the TOA [22], the TDOA [23], or the hybrid TDOA/AOA [24] measurements to estimate the MS position. It is regarded as an implementation of a Maximum Likelihood (ML) estimator under the assumption of equal prior. After a linearized transformation of the independent-assumed objective parameters, a LS method is applied to estimate the MS position in the first step. The estimated result is fine tuned with the considerations of the presence of the estimation errors and the relationship of the objective parameters. The other LS process is carrying on to get the final estimate. Rather than



Figure 3.1: The Flow Chart of the VBS Algorithm

AND DE LEVE

run iteratively, two-stepped process is enough in this algorithm. The LLOP algorithm [25] in section 2.1.7 uses the connections of the intersections of the measured range circles to estimate the MS position. There are  $\mathbf{C}_{N-1}^{N}$  independent line equations generated by the intersections of the N measured range circles. Two similar method, intersections of the line equations and the least squares, are applied to locate the MS position. However, the TSE, the two-step LS and the LLOP algorithms are only feasible for the LOS environments. The NLOS error be a killer issue in the location positioning will bring up a considerable bias in to a time measurement, especially in a dense region like metropolises and downtowns.

The method in [32] mitigates the influence of the NLOS error by utilizing the constraints of the geometric layout in the cell-based communication network. A constraint equation and a nonlinear cost function are derived from the characteristics of the geometry. The cost function is constraint-optimized by adopting the SQP algorithm. The computation time is intuitively increased duo to the optimization process. The Geometry-constrained Location Estimation (GLE) algorithm [34] extended from the two-step LS method is found effective and time-saving in location position. The proposed VBS (Virtual Base Stations) algorithm takes a step ahead by combining the considerations of the signal variations with the extending geometric constraints of the virtual base stations. The functionalities of the assisted virtual base stations is to improve the GDOP effects by joining the geometric constraints into the formulations of the GLE algorithm. The flow chart of the proposed VBS algorithm is shown in Fig. 3.1. An exponential distributed NLOS error is considered. The first estimate  $\hat{x}_{M,1}$  of the MS's position is obtained by utilizing the two-step LS method. The first assisted virtual base station  $\mathbf{x}_{v,1}$  can then be obtained by applying the proposed Center-of-Gravity (CG) based or the Minimum GDOP (MG) based selection methods. The second estimate  $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{M,2}$  of the MS's position obtained from the VBS algorithm is compared with the previous estimate  $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{M,1}$ . The iteration processes will continue while the distance from the latest estimate to the last one is larger than the chosen threshold. The proposed VBS algorithm iteratively adds virtual base stations into the original layout and terminates as the estimated MS's position converges.

#### 3.2 Observations from the GDOP

The GDOP criterion is originally used in the satellite-based location system to check if the layout of the visible satellites is good for the goal of positioning. It has been applied to the cell-based location system as well. The interpretation of the meaning of the GDOP is that it represents the standard deviation ratio of the signal and the noise. In a fixed layout, the signal variations differ with where the MS locates. The radio signals range over larger variations not only raise the inaccuracy of the location estimation but also the value of the GDOP. In other words, the lower value of the GDOP stands for the smaller signal variations in a fixed layout and expectedly accompanies the better performance of location estimation.

The GDOP is utilized as an index for judging the the effect of the geometric layout. Several K-side ( $3 \le K \le 6$ ) regular polygon layouts are examined to verify the phenomenons of the GDOP. Each regular polygon is centered at the origin with the vertexes 1000m away from the origin. In each case, the 3-D graph and the contour of the GDOP value are shown in Fig. 3.2 to 3.5. Some results can be concluded inside the regular polygons by observing the differences of these figures.



Figure 3.3: The GDOP Value in a Square.



Figure 3.5: The GDOP Value in a Regular Hexagon.

The shape of the GDOP is a concave function with the values at the vertexes being the maximum. The minimum GDOP is found to occur at the center and the value is comparably to  $\frac{2}{\sqrt{K}}$  in a K-side regular polygon. One thing to be noted is that the GDOP values are smaller and the regions inside the regular polygons are flatter as K increases. According to the statements above, a virtual base station utilized in the VBS algorithm can be joined to the original layout to flatten the GDOP effect and lower the minimum value. The selection of a virtual base station is to let the estimated MS's position locate at the location where the value of GDOP is minimum.

## 3.3 The Extended Two-Step LS Algorithm with Virtual Base Stations

A series of geometric constraints involved by the assisted virtual base stations is feasible to be integrate into the GLE algorithm. The following section shows the way that how to integrate the information of the assisted virtual base stations into the conventional two-step LS algorithm.

#### 3.3.1 Overview

Analogous to the GLE algorithm by adding geometric constraints within the conventional two-step LS method, the VBS algorithm extends the concept of "virtual" assistances in the GLE algorithm to add the geometric constraints from the assisted virtual base stations.

As shown in Fig. 3.6, the three original range measurements intersects at the A, B and C points around the overlap region. A linear combination of the coordinates of the A, B and C points with the corresponding parameters direct proportional to the signal variances constructs the expected virtual distance as in (2.46). The expected virtual distance restricts the MS in the overlap region and constructs a cost function to minimize the deviation to the virtual distance as in (2.45). The functionality of the virtual base stations is to reduce the GDOP effect in the original layout. From the observations in section 3.2, the more the number



Figure 3.6: The Location Estimation with the Assistance of the Virtual Base Stations of the virtual base stations are, the lower the value of the GDOP is. With an appropriate setting of the threshold, the precision of the location can be achieved.

#### 3.3.2 Formulation of the Extended Two-Step LS Algorithm

While the concept of the "virtual" assistance in the proposed VBS algorithm is the same with that of the GLE algorithm, the formulations of the expected virtual distance  $\gamma_e$  as in (2.46) and the definition of the weights as in (2.48) are utilized. In order to integrate the information of the  $i^{th}$  added virtual base station with the geometric constraints, the coordinates of the  $i^{th}$  virtual base station  $(x_{v,i}, y_{v,i})$  is expressed as

$$x_{v,i} = \alpha_{a,i}x_a + \alpha_{b,i}x_b + \alpha_{c,i}x_c \text{ for } i = 1, 2, ..., n$$
 (3.1)

$$y_{v,i} = \alpha_{a,i}y_a + \alpha_{b,i}y_b + \alpha_{c,i}y_c$$
 for  $i = 1, 2, ..., n$  (3.2)

The coordinates of  $\boldsymbol{x}_a, \, \boldsymbol{x}_b$  and  $\boldsymbol{x}_c$  can be obtained after the three TOA measurements

are acquired. The parameters  $\alpha_{a,i}$ ,  $\alpha_{b,i}$  and  $\alpha_{c,i}$  can be obtained by solving (3.1) and (3.2) associated with  $\alpha_{a,i} + \alpha_{b,i} + \alpha_{c,i} = 1$ . The fraction  $\frac{1}{3}$  in (2.46) is substituted by the parameters  $\alpha_{a,i}$ ,  $\alpha_{b,i}$  and  $\alpha_{c,i}$  so that the expression of the  $\gamma_{e,i}$  can be formulated as

$$\gamma_{e,i} = \left[\sum_{\mu=\boldsymbol{a},\boldsymbol{b},\boldsymbol{c}} \alpha_{\mu,i} \|\boldsymbol{x}_e - \mu\|^2\right]^{1/2} = \gamma + n_{\gamma_i}$$
(3.3)

(3.4)

where  $n_{\gamma,i}$  is the error of between the  $\gamma$  and the  $\gamma_{e,i}$ .

It is assumed that there are n virtual base stations collaborating in the VBS algorithm. By rearranging and combining (2.1) and (2.46) in the matrix format, the following equation can be obtained:

$$\mathbf{H}\boldsymbol{x} = \mathbf{J} + \boldsymbol{\psi}$$

$$\boldsymbol{x} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{x} & \boldsymbol{y} & \boldsymbol{\beta} \end{bmatrix}^{T}$$

$$-2x_{1} & -2y_{1} & 1$$

$$-2x_{2} & -2y_{2} & 1$$

$$-2x_{2} & -2y_{2} & 1$$

$$-2x_{v,1} & -2y_{v,1} & 1$$

$$-2x_{v,2} & -2y_{v,2} & 1$$

$$\cdot & \cdot & \cdot$$

$$-2x_{v,n} & -2y_{v,n} & 1$$

where

$$\mathbf{J} = \begin{bmatrix} r_1^2 - \kappa_1 \\ r_2^2 - \kappa_2 \\ r_3^2 - \kappa_3 \\ \gamma_{e,1} - \gamma_{\kappa_{v,1}} \\ \gamma_{e,2} - \gamma_{\kappa_{v,2}} \\ \vdots \\ \gamma_{e,3} - \gamma_{\kappa_{v,n}} \end{bmatrix}$$

The corresponding coefficients are given by

$$\beta = x^2 + y^2 \tag{3.5}$$

$$\kappa_{\ell} = x_{\ell}^2 + y_{\ell}^2 \quad \text{for } \ell = 1, 2, 3$$
(3.6)

$$\gamma_{\kappa_{v,i}} = \alpha_{a,i}(x_a^2 + y_a^2) + \alpha_{b,i}(x_b^2 + y_b^2) + \alpha_{c,i}(x_c^2 + y_c^2)$$
(3.7)

It is noted that the equation (3.7) is utilized to facilitate the formulation of the two-step LS problem. Moreover, the noise matrix  $\psi$  in (3.4) can be obtained as

$$\psi = 2 c \mathbf{B} \boldsymbol{n} + c^2 \boldsymbol{n}^2 \tag{3.8}$$

where

$$\mathbf{B} = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \begin{array}{cccc} \zeta_1 & \zeta_2 & \zeta_3 & \gamma_1 & \gamma_2 & \dots & \gamma_n \end{array} \right\}_{(n+3)\times(n+3)}$$
$$\mathbf{n} = \left[ \begin{array}{ccccc} n_1 & n_2 & n_3 & n_{\gamma_1}/c & n_{\gamma_2}/c & \dots & n_{\gamma_n}/c \end{array} \right]_{(n+3)\times 1}^T$$

Based on the two-step LS scheme, an intermediate location estimate after the first step can be obtained as

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{x}} = (\mathbf{H}^T \boldsymbol{\Psi}^{-1} \mathbf{H})^{-1} \mathbf{H}^T \boldsymbol{\Psi}^{-1} \mathbf{J}$$
(3.9)

where

$$\Psi = E[\psi\psi^T] = 4 \ c^2 \ \mathbf{BQB}$$

It is noted that  $\Psi$  is obtained by neglecting the second term of (3.8). The matrix **Q** can be acquired as

$$\mathbf{Q} = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \begin{array}{ccc} \sigma_1^2 & \sigma_2^2 & \sigma_3^2 & \sigma_{\gamma_{e,1}/c}^2 & \sigma_{\gamma_{e,2}/c}^2 & \dots & \sigma_{\gamma_{e,n}/c}^2 \end{array} \right\}$$

It can be observed that  $\mathbf{Q}$  represents the covariance matrix for both the TOA measurements and the *expected virtual distance*, where  $\sigma_{|\gamma_{e,i}|^{\frac{1}{2}}}$  corresponds to the standard deviation of  $|\gamma_{e,i}|^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . The final location estimation after the second step of the two-step LS algorithm can be obtained by referring the approach as stated in [23].

#### 3.4 The Selection of a Virtual Base Station

Since the information of the virtual base stations can be integrated into the conventional two-step LS method, two methods of selecting virtual base stations are proposed hereafter.

#### 3.4.1 The Center of Gravity (CG) Based Selection Method

As discussed in the section 3.2, the value of the GDOP at the center of the gravity is minimum in a regular polygon. A virtual base station is added to make the latest location estimate of the MS be at the center of the gravity of the modified layout. After the first location estimate  $\hat{x}_{M,1}$  of the MS by the two-step LS method in a regular triangle layout, the first virtual base station  $\hat{x}_{v,1}$  is added in accordance with the CG based selection method by

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}_{M,1} = \frac{\boldsymbol{x}_1 + \boldsymbol{x}_2 + \boldsymbol{x}_3 + \boldsymbol{x}_{v,1}}{BSN + VBN}$$
(3.10)

where the BSN and the VBN are the number of the base stations and the virtual base stations, respectively. The BSN and the VBN are 3 and 1 in this case. The first added virtual base station  $\mathbf{x}_{v,1}$  can be obtained as  $4\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{M,1} - 3\mathbf{x}_{CG}$  after a simple transformation while  $\mathbf{x}_{CG}$  is the position of the center of the gravity in the original layout. The first obtained virtual base station  $\mathbf{x}_{v,1}$  is then gathered into the VBS algorithm to decrease the GDOP effect and locate the second location estimate  $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{M,2}$  of the MS. As the iterative process continues, the second virtual base station  $\mathbf{x}_{v,2}$  can be obtained by

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}_{M,2} = \frac{\boldsymbol{x}_1 + \boldsymbol{x}_2 + \boldsymbol{x}_3 + \boldsymbol{x}_{v,1} + \boldsymbol{x}_{v,2}}{BSN + VBN}$$
(3.11)

The BSN and the VBN are substituted as 3 and 2 now. Therefore the second added virtual base station  $\mathbf{x}_{v,2}$  can be yielded as  $5\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{M,2} - 4\mathbf{x}_{CG}$ . As the process carries on, the selection of the  $n^{th}$  virtual base station can be expressed as

$$\boldsymbol{x}_{v,n} = (BSN + VBN)\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}_{M,n} - (BSN + VBN - 1)\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}_{M,n-1}$$
(3.12)

After n-iteration proceeds and the VBS algorithm stops, the position  $\hat{x}_{M,n-1}$  and  $\hat{x}_{M,n}$ are expected to converge at the same point. By adopting (3.19), the  $n^{th}$  virtual base station  $x_{v,n}$  will converge to the  $n^{th}$  location estimate  $\hat{x}_{M,n}$  of the MS.

### 3.4.2 The Minimum GDOP (MG) Based Selection method

Whenever the  $n^{th}$  virtual base station  $\mathbf{x}_{v,n}$  is going to be added into the existing layout, the formulation of the GDOP can be acquired with the information of the coordinates of the three base stations and the assisted (n-1) virtual base stations, the range measurements and the latest location estimate  $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{M,n}$  of the MS. The expression in (2.53) can be reformulated as

$$\mathbf{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\hat{x}_{M,n} - x_1}{r_1} & \frac{\hat{x}_{M,n} - y_1}{r_1} \\ \frac{\hat{x}_{M,n} - x_2}{r_2} & \frac{\hat{x}_{M,n} - y_2}{r_2} \\ \frac{\hat{x}_{M,n} - x_3}{r_3} & \frac{\hat{x}_{M,n} - y_3}{r_3} \\ \frac{\hat{x}_{M,n} - x_{v,1}}{r_{v,1}} & \frac{\hat{x}_{M,n} - y_{v,1}}{r_{v,1}} \\ \frac{\hat{x}_{M,n} - x_{v,2}}{r_{v,2}} & \frac{\hat{x}_{M,n} - y_{v,2}}{r_{v,2}} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \frac{\hat{x}_{M,n} - x_{v,n}}{r_{v,n}} & \frac{\hat{x}_{M,n} - y_{v,n}}{r_{v,n}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.13)

where  $r_{v,i}$  is the distance from the  $i^{th}$  virtual base station to the location estimate of the MS. If the noise errors are simplified by i.i.d. distribution with mean 0 and variance  $\sigma_n^2$ , the GDOP can be yielded as

$$GDOP = \sqrt{\text{the trace of } (\mathbf{H}^T \mathbf{H})^{-1}}$$
 (3.14)

Obviously, the GDOP formulation in (3.14) is a function of  $x_{v,n}$  and  $y_{v,n}$ . The function (3.14) is intuitively differentiated with respect to  $x_{v,n}$  and  $y_{v,n}$ , and the desired  $(x_{v,n}, y_{v,n})$  can be obtained theoretically by making each of the first-order differentials equals to 0 as

$$\mathbf{DG}_1 \equiv \frac{\partial GDOP}{\partial x_{v,n}} = 0 \tag{3.15}$$

$$\mathbf{DG}_2 \equiv \frac{\partial GDOP}{\partial y_{v,n}} = 0 \tag{3.16}$$

Actually, the equations (3.15) and (3.16) involve high-order power of  $x_{v,n}$  and  $y_{v,n}$  so that the solution of  $(x_{v,n}, y_{v,n})$  is hard to yield. The Taylor expansion with multiple variables is applied to reformulate the equations (3.15) and (3.16). The minimum GDOP value is supposed to locate around the center of gravity in a non-regular polygon layout. Consequently the corresponding first-order Taylor expansions of the equations (3.15) and (3.16) about the point  $\mathbf{x}_{v,n} = \mathbf{x}_{e,v,n}$  are given by

$$\mathbf{DG}_{1} = \mathbf{DG}_{1}(\boldsymbol{x}_{e,v,n}) + \frac{\partial \mathbf{DG}_{1}}{\partial x_{v,n}} |_{\boldsymbol{x}_{v,n} = \boldsymbol{x}_{e,v,n}} (x - x_{e,v,n}) + \frac{\partial \mathbf{DG}_{1}}{\partial y_{v,n}} |_{\boldsymbol{x}_{v,n} = \boldsymbol{x}_{e,v,n}} (y - y_{e,v,n}) (3.17)$$
$$\mathbf{DG}_{2} = \mathbf{DG}_{2}(\boldsymbol{x}_{e,v,n}) + \frac{\partial \mathbf{DG}_{2}}{\partial x_{v,n}} |_{\boldsymbol{x}_{v,n} = \boldsymbol{x}_{e,v,n}} (x - x_{e,v,n}) + \frac{\partial \mathbf{DG}_{2}}{\partial y_{v,n}} |_{\boldsymbol{x}_{v,n} = \boldsymbol{x}_{e,v,n}} (y - y_{e,v,n}) (3.18)$$

where

$$\mathbf{x}_{e,v,n} = (BSN + VBN)\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{M,n} - (BSN + VBN - 1)\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{M,n-1}$$
, BSN=3, and VBN=n (3.19)

The  $n^{th}$  virtual base station  $\mathbf{x}_{v,n}$  can be obtained by

$$\boldsymbol{x}_{v,n} = \begin{bmatrix} x_{v,n} \\ y_{v,n} \end{bmatrix} = A^{-1}b \tag{3.20}$$

where

$$\mathbf{A} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \mathbf{DG}_{1}}{\partial x_{v,n}} | \mathbf{x}_{v,n} = \mathbf{x}_{e,v,n} & \frac{\partial \mathbf{DG}_{1}}{\partial y_{v,n}} | \mathbf{x}_{v,n} = \mathbf{x}_{e,v,n} \\ \frac{\partial \mathbf{DG}_{2}}{\partial x_{v,n}} | \mathbf{x}_{v,n} = \mathbf{x}_{e,v,n} & \frac{\partial \mathbf{DG}_{2}}{\partial y_{v,n}} | \mathbf{x}_{v,n} = \mathbf{x}_{e,v,n} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.21)

and

$$\mathbf{b} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \mathbf{DG}_{1}}{\partial x_{v,n}} |_{\boldsymbol{x}_{v,n} = \boldsymbol{x}_{e,v,n}} \cdot x_{e,v,n} + \frac{\partial \mathbf{DG}_{1}}{\partial y_{v,n}} |_{\boldsymbol{x}_{v,n} = \boldsymbol{x}_{e,v,n}} \cdot y_{e,v,n} - \mathbf{DG}_{1}(\boldsymbol{x}_{e,v,n}) \\ \frac{\partial \mathbf{DG}_{2}}{\partial x_{v,n}} |_{\boldsymbol{x}_{v,n} = \boldsymbol{x}_{e,v,n}} \cdot x_{e,v,n} + \frac{\partial \mathbf{DG}_{2}}{\partial y_{v,n}} |_{\boldsymbol{x}_{v,n} = \boldsymbol{x}_{e,v,n}} \cdot y_{e,v,n} - \mathbf{DG}_{2}(\boldsymbol{x}_{e,v,n}) \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.22)

The termination of the VBS algorithm will stop the addition of new virtual base stations.



## Chapter 4

## **Performance Evaluation**

The noise model in [37] is used to represent the NLOS errors. The threshold is chosen as 0.1 meter. The proposed VBS algorithm with two selection methods of the virtual base stations are compared with the TSE approach, the two-step LS algorithm and the LLOP method. Different layouts and different positions of the MS are considered in the simulations to verify the effectiveness of the VBS algorithm.

#### 4.1 The Noise Models and Simulation Parameters

In the simulations, the exponential distributed noise model in [37] is applied to represent the NLOS error. The exponential distributed NOLS error  $p_{n_{\ell}}(\tau)$  is expressed as

$$p_{n_k}(\tau) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\tau_k} e^{\frac{-\tau}{\tau_k}} & \tau > 0\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(4.1)

for  $\ell = 1, 2, ...$  N.  $\tau_{\ell} = \tau_m \zeta_{\ell} \varepsilon_{\rho}$  is the RMS delay spread between the  $\ell^{th}$  BS to the MS;  $\tau_m$  is the median value of  $\tau_{\ell}$  whose value varies with different environments.  $\varepsilon$  is the path loss exponent which is assumed to be 0.5, and the factor for shadow fading  $\rho$  is set to 1 in the simulations. The setting of the parameters in the noise model fulfills the environment while the MS is located within the suburban area. On the other hand, the model for the measurement noise

of the TOA signals is selected as the Gaussian distribution with zero mean and 10 meters of standard deviation.

The following four different layouts are simulated to verify the improvement of the location accuracy that the proposed VBS algorithm can promote.

- 1. Case(1): The three base stations are located at (0, 0),  $(1000, 1000\sqrt{3})$  and  $(-1000, 1000\sqrt{3})$ . The MS is assigned to locate at  $(0, \frac{2000}{3}\sqrt{3})$ , i.e. the center of the gravity.
- 2. Case(2): The three base stations are located at (0, 0),  $(1000, 1000\sqrt{3})$  and  $(-1000, 1000\sqrt{3})$ . The MS is assigned to locate at (650, 1450), i.e. near the point  $(1000, 1000\sqrt{3})$ .
- 3. Case(3): The three base stations are located at (0,0),  $(1000, 1000\sqrt{3})$  and (-500, 1000). The MS is assigned to locate at (166, 910), i.e. the center of the gravity.
- 4. Case(4): The three base stations are located at (0,0),  $(1000, 1000\sqrt{3})$  and (-500, 1000). The MS is assigned to locate at (-250, 900), i.e. near the point (-500, 1000).

# 4.2 Simulation Results

The median value  $\tau_m$  of the NOLS error is set to be 0.3 in this thesis. The parameter  $m_e$  is the distance from the latest estimated MS's position to the last one. The VBS algorithm terminates if the value of  $m_e$  is smaller than the given threshold. The threshold is set to be 0.1 meters in the thesis. The proposed VBS algorithm including both the VBS-CG and the VBS-MG schemes is compared with the two-step LS method, the TSE algorithm, and the LLOP approach via simulations. The performance evaluation of each case is obtained after executing 100 times. The layout of each case is also presented with the information of the iteratively-estimated MS's position and the added virtual base stations.

In Case(1), a regular triangle layout with the MS locates at the center of the gravity is considered. As shown in Fig. 4.1, the proposed VBS algorithm is compared to other existing methods. Since the GDOP effect in the regular triangle is the slightest at the center of gravity where the MS lies, the improvements obtained from the VBS algorithm is small. In Fig. 4.2,



Figure 4.1: Performance Comparison between the Location Estimation Schemes under NLOS Environments in Case(1) (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises:  $\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )

51120

the location estimates of the MS's position and the added virtual base stations of the CG and the MG methods in the VBS algorithm are presented. Obviously, the location estimates of the two methods both approach to the MS's position till the iterations converge.

In Case(2), the MS's position is located closer to a base station. As shown from Fig. 3.2 to 3.5, the GDOP effect is a concave function and will become worse around any of the base stations. The performance of the proposed VBS algorithm is better than the other methods as presented in Fig. 4.3. Compared with the two-step LS method, the accuracy improvement of the proposed VBS algorithm at the 60% average error is about 80 meters. The result implies that the proposed VBS algorithm still can perform well while the MS is in a poor geometric environment. It is noted that the performance of the CG-based and the MG-based selection methods seem to be the same duo to the regular triangle layout. The MS location estimates of the these two method in Case(2) are shown in Fig. 4.4.

The performance comparison is also held in a non-regular triangle layout. The MS is located at the center of the gravity of the non-regular triangle layout as given in Case(3). The comparison of performance is shown in Fig. 4.5 and the location estimates of the CG and



Figure 4.2: The Positioning Processes of the VBS Schemes under NLOS Environments in Case(1) (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises:  $\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )



Figure 4.3: Performance Comparison between the Location Estimation Schemes under NLOS Environments in Case(2) (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises:  $\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )



Figure 4.4: The Positioning Processes of the VBS Schemes under NLOS Environments in Case(2) (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises:  $\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )

the MG method are illustrated in Fig. 4.6. Since the layout is no more a regular triangle, the performance of the proposed VBS algorithm is better than that of other methods by 20 meters even if the MS is located at the center of the gravity.

The layout in Case(4) is designed as a non-regular triangle and the MS's is lied closer to a base station. The performance comparison in Case(4) is shown in Fig. 4.7. The performance of the VBS algorithm is superior to other methods. Although the poor layout and MS's position is presented, the proposed VBS algorithm promotes an improvement at the 60% average error by 50 meters while comparing with the two-step LS method. One thing to be mentioned is that the minimum GDOP value in a non-regular triangle layout may occur at a point around the center of gravity rather than indeed at the center of gravity. Hence, the performance of the selection method based on the minimum GDOP is better than that of the CG-based method. In Fig. 4.8, both the CG and the MG based VBS algorithm can direct the estimated MS's position approaching to the true position evidently.

The relationship of the NLOS error and the Root-Mean-Squared Error (RMSE) is discussed, too. The 60% average position error is chosen as a criterion while comparing the



Figure 4.5: Performance Comparison between the Location Estimation Schemes under NLOS Environments in Case(3) (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises:  $\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )



Figure 4.6: The Positioning Processes of the VBS Schemes under NLOS Environments in Case(3) (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises:  $\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )



Figure 4.7: Performance Comparison between the Location Estimation Schemes under NLOS Environments in Case(4) (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises:  $\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )



Figure 4.8: The Positioning Processes of the VBS Schemes under NLOS Environments in Case(4) (with Median Value of the NLOS Noises:  $\tau_m = 0.3 \ \mu s$ )



Figure 4.9: The Comparison of the 60% Average Position Errors of the Location Estimation Methods under Different NLOS Errors

performance of the TSE algorithm, the two-step LS method, the LLOP approach and the proposed VBS algorithm under various NLOS environments. The median value  $\tau_m$ =0.3 is selected to properly fulfill the NLOS error in the suburban areas. As shown in Fig. 4.9, the performance of the proposed VBS algorithm is apparently better than that of other methods, especially when the value of  $\tau_m$  raises.

## Chapter 5

## Conclusion

The NOLS errors will cause large positive biases while measuring the time information data. The inaccuracies of the range measurements consequentially make the conventional location algorithms, like the two-step LS method [23], fail to estimate the MS's position. The GLE algorithm [34] skillfully joins the geometric constraints into the two-step LS method to improve the location estimation under the NLOS-corrupted environments. Additionally, the GDOP effect in a communication layout is considered as well. The lower the GDOP value is, the slighter the effect of geometry can affect the positioning processes. The assisted virtual base stations can be added to reduce the GDOP values inside the layout. The proposed CG-based and the MG-based methods which intend to make the MS be at the location where the GDOP value is minimum can be utilized to select the virtual base stations. The proposed VBS algorithm not only imposes the geometric constraints but also iteratively adds the virtual base stations into the conventional two-step LS method. Different layouts and MS's positions are examined to verify the improvement of the proposed VBS algorithm in the location estimation. The performance shows that the proposed VBS algorithm can perform better than other methods, especially the environments with poor geometric layout and large NLOS errors.

## Bibliography

- [1] SnapTrack, "Location Technologles for GSM, GPRS, and UMTS QUALCOMM 2003 Network," a Company white paper, Jan. See http://www.cdmatech.com/resources/pdf/location\_tech\_wp\_1-03.pdf.
- [2] D. Porcino, "Performance of a OTDOA-IPDL Positioning Receiver for 3GPP-FDD Mode," IEE 3G Mobile Communication Technologies, pp. 221-225, Mar. 2001.
- [3] Y. T. Chan, C. H. Yau, and P. C. Yau, "Linear and Approximate Maximum Likelihood Localization from TOA Measurements," *IEEE Signal Processing and Its Applications*, Vol. 2, pp. 295-298, Jul. 2003.
- [4] R. O. Schmidt, "Multiple emitter location and signal parameter estimation," *IEEE Trans.* Antennas and Propagation, Vol. 34, Issue 3, pp. 276-280, Mar. 1986.
- [5] E. G. Strom, S. Parkvall, S. L. Miller, and B. E. Ottersten, "Propagation delay estimation of DS-CDMA signals in a fading environment," *IEEE GLOBECOM.*, pp. 85-89, Nov. 1994.
- [6] B. M. Radich and K. M. Buckley, "The Effect of Source Number Underestimation on MUSIC Location Estimates," *IEEE Trans. on Signal Processing*, Vol. 42, pp. 233-236, Jan. 1994.
- [7] P. Luukkanen and J. Joutsensalo, "Comparison of MUSIC and matched filter delay estimators in DS-CDMA," *IEEE Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications*, Vol. 3, pp. 830-834, Sep. 1997.

- [8] E. G. Strom, S. Parkvall, S. L. Miller, and B.E. Ottersten, "Propagation delay estimation in asynchronous direct-sequence code-division multiple access systems," *IEEE Trans. Communications*, Vol. 44, Issue 1, pp. 84-93, Jan. 1996.
- [9] S.Gazor, S. Affes and Y. Grenier, "Robust Adaptive Beamforming via Target Tracking," IEEE Trans. on Signal Processing, Vol. 44, Issue 6, pp. 1589 - 1593, Jun. 1996.
- [10] S. Affes, S. Gazor, and Y. Grenier, "An Algorithm for Multisource Beamforming and Multitarget Tracking," *IEEE Trans. Signal Processing*, Vol. 44, Issue 6, pp. 1512-1522, Jun. 1996.
- [11] K. Harmanci, J. Tabrikian, and J. L. Krolik, "Relationships Between Adaptive Minimum Variance Beamforming and Optimal Source Localization," *IEEE Trans. Signal Processing*, Vol. 48, Issue 1, pp. 1-12, Jan. 2000.
- [12] K. Kaemarungsi and P. Krishnamurthy, "Properties of Indoor Received Signal Strength for WLAN Location Fingerprinting", *IEEE Mobile and Ubiquitous Systems*, pp. 14-23, Aug. 2004.
- [13] J. Kwon, B. Dundar, and P. Varaiya, "Hybrid Algorithm for Indoor Positioning Using Wireless LAN", *IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference*, Vol. 7, pp.4625-4629, Sep. 2004.
- [14] K. Kaemarungsi and P. Krishnamurthy, "Modeling of Indoor Positioning Systems Based on Location Fingerprinting," *IEEE INFOCOM*, Vol. 2, pp. 1012-1022, Mar. 2004.
- [15] M. Hata, "Empirical Formula for Propagation Loss in Land Mobile Radio Services," *IEEE Trans. Vehicular Tech.*, Vol. 29, Issue 3, pp. 317-325, Aug. 1980.
- [16] S. Y. Seidal and T. S. Rappaport, "Site Specific Propagation Prediction for Wireless In-Building Personal Communication System Design," *IEEE Trans. Vehicular Yechnology*, Vol. 43, Issue 4, pp. 879-891, Nov. 1994.
- [17] T. Imai and T. Fujii, "Indoor Micro Cell Area Prediction System using Ray-tracing for Mobile Communication Systems" *IEEE Personal*, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications, Vol. 1, pp. 24-28, Oct. 1996.

- [18] K. R. Chang and H. T. Kim: "Improvement of the computation efficiency for a raylaunching model" *IEEE Antennas and Propagation*, Vol. 145, Issue 4, pp. 303-308, Aug. 1998.
- [19] S. T. Tan and H. S. Tan, "Improved Three-Dimensional Ray Tracing Technique for Microcellular Propagation Models" *IEEE Electronics Letters*, Vol. 31, Issue 17, pp.1503-1505, Aug. 1995.
- [20] Z. Sandor, L. Nagy, Z. Szabo, and T. Csaba, "3D Ray Launch and Moment Method for indoor radio propagation purposes," *IEEE Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Propagation*, Vol. 1, Sept. 1997, pp.130-134.
- [21] W. H. Foy, "Position-Location Solutions by Taylor-Series Estimation," *IEEE Trans. Aerosp. Electron. Syst.*, Vol. 12, pp. 187-194, Mar. 1976.
- [22] X. Wang, Z. Wang, and B. O'Dea, "A TOA-Based Location Algorithm Reducing the Errors due to Non-Line-of-Sight (NLOS) Propagation," *IEEE Trans.*, Vol. 52, Jan. 2003.
- [23] Y. T. Chen, and K. C. Ho, "A Simple and Efficient Estimator for Hyperbolic Location," *IEEE Trans. Signal Processing*, Vol. 42, pp. 1905-1915, 1994.
- [24] L. Cong, and W. Zhuang, "Hybrid TDOA/AOA Mobile User Location for Wideband CDMA Cellular Systems," IEEE Trans. Wireless Communications, Vol. 1, pp. 439-437, Jul. 2002.
- [25] Jr. J. Caffery, "A New Approach to The Geometry of TOA Location," IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference, Vol. 4, pp.1943 - 1949, Sep. 2000.
- [26] S. Venkatraman, Jr. J. Caffery, "Hybrid TOA/AOA techniques for mobile location in nonline-of-sight environments," *IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference*, Vol. 1, pp. 274-278, Mar. 2004.
- [27] J. Caffery Jr. and G. L. Stuber, "Subscriber location in CDMA cellularnetworks," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol.47, pp.406-416, May 1998.

- [28] M. I. Silventoinen, T. Rantalainen, "Mobile Station Emergency locating in GSM," IEEE International Conference on Personal Wireless Communications, India, Feb. 1996.
- [29] P. C. Chen, "A Non-Line-of-Sight Error Mitigation Algorithm in Location Estimation," Proc, IEEE Wireless Communication and Networking Conf., pp. 316-320, Sep. 1999.
- [30] M. P. Wylie and J. Holtzman, "The Non-Line of Sight Problem in Mobile Location Estimation," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Universal Personal Communications, Vol.2, pp.827-831, Sep. 1996.
- [31] J. Borras, P. Hatrack and N. B. Mandayam, "Decision Theoretic Framework for NLOS Identification," VETEC, Vol. 2, pp.1583 - 1587, May 1998.
- [32] B. L. Le, K. Ahmed, and H. Tsuji, "Mobile Location Estimation with NLOS Mitigation Using Kalman Flitering," WCNC, Vol 3, pp.1969-1973, Mar. 2003.
- [33] S. Venkatraman, J. Caffery, Jr., and H.-R. You, "A Novel ToA Location Algorithm using LoS Range Estimation for NLoS Environments," *IEEE Trans. on Vehicular Technology*, Vol. 53, Issue 5, pp. 1515-1524, Sep. 2004.
- [34] C. L. Chen and K. T. Feng, "An efficient geometry-constrained location estimation algorithm for NLOS environments," Wireless Networks, Communications and Mobile Computing, 2005 International Conference, vol.1, pp.244-249, Jun. 2005.
- [35] J. Chaffee and J. Abel, "GDOP and the Cramer-Rao Bound," PLANS, pp. 663-668, Apr. 1994.
- [36] N. Leavnon, "Lowest GDOP in 2D Scenarios, *IEE Proc.-Radar, Sonar Navig.*, Vol. 147, No. 3, pp.149-155, Jun. 2000.
- [37] L. J. Greenstein, V. Erceg, Y. S. Yeh, and M. V. Clark, "A New Path-Gain/ Delay-Spread Propagation Model for Digital Cellular Channels," *IEEE Trans. on Vehicular Technology*, Vol. 46, pp. 477-485, May 1997.